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PER CURI AM
Def endant - Appel | ant Forti no Saucedo Villegas pled guilty and
was sentenced in the district court before the United States

Suprene Court’s recent decision in United States v. Booker, 125

S. . 738 (2005). This appeal requires us to re-examne the
proper standard of review to enploy in our resolution of a claim
that the district court inproperly applied the Sentencing
GQuidelines in calculating the sentencing range under the

previ ously mandatory, now advi sory, sentencing guideline regine.

We re-exam ne our standards in order to determ ne the possible



effect, if any, of Booker on our previously announced standards
in review ng such cl ains.

Villegas pled guilty to being an alien in unlaw ul
possession of a firearm in violation of 18 U S. C. 88 922(9g)(5)
and 924(a)(2). At sentencing, the district court inposed a four-
| evel sentence enhancenent under UN TED STATES SENTENCI NG GUI DELI NES
8§ 2K2.1(b)(5) (2003) because it found by a preponderance of the
evidence that Villegas possessed a firearmin connection with his
use of fraudulent inmgration docunents. Villegas now appeal s
t he sentence enhancenent. W VACATE Villegas's sentence and
REMAND f or resentencing.

| . BACKGROUND

A Fact ual Background

On April 26, 2003, Fortino Saucedo Villegas, a Mexican
national unlawfully present in the United States, attended a gun
show at the Pasadena Convention Center in Pasadena, Texas. At
the show, Villegas approached Rol and Kulish, who was operating a
booth at the show, and he expressed an interest in purchasing a
Colt sem -automatic pistol. Kulish infornmed Villegas that he did
not have any at the show but that he did have sone at his store
and woul d bring one to the next gun show, scheduled for the
foll ow ng weekend. The next week, Kulish returned to the gun
show and brought the firearm Vill egas had requested. Villegas

al so returned to the gun show and sought out Kulish to purchase



the firearm According to Kulish and his wife, Villegas
submtted three forns of identification: (1) a Texas driver’s
license, no. 19476405; (2) a Texas identification card, no.
12088537; and (3) a resident alien card, no. 12088537. On the
ATF form 4473, Villegas stated that he was a resident alien. In
response to line eleven, which asks for an “INS-issued alien
nunber or adm ssion nunber,” Villegas |listed 12088537. The words
“pictured Texas resident |.D. card” were witten directly above
this response. Kulish sold the handgun to Villegas on May 3,
2003.

On June 5, 2003, the Bureau of Al cohol, Tobacco, Firearns,
and Expl osives (“ATF’) received information fromthe National
I nstant Check System (“NICS’) about Villegas's firearm purchase.
A check with the Bureau of Immgration and Custons Enforcenent
revealed Villegas's crimnal inmgration history.! Based on this
information, the ATF obtained a search warrant for the residence
that Villegas had |listed on his ATF forns.

On June 26, 2003, ATF agents executed the search warrant.
When the agents arrived, Villegas was asleep in his bedroom The
agents found several firearns, ammunition, and a resident alien
card suspected to be counterfeit. A search of Villegas’'s
aut onobi l e reveal ed receipts for an AK-47 and the Colt handgun he

had purchased from Kulish. The agents placed Vill egas under

. In June 1999, he was allowed to depart the United
States voluntarily in lieu of deportation after being found
illegally present in the United States.
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arrest and advised himof his constitutional rights. He waived
his right to remain silent and admtted that he was a Mexican
citizen illegally present in the United States. He also
acknow edged that the gun on the headboard bel onged to himand
clainmed he kept it for protection. Further, he admtted to
purchasi ng the Colt handgun from Kulish. He stated that he had
taken it to a gunsmth to have the finish changed fromblack to
chrone.

B. Procedural Background

On July 24, 2003, a grand jury indicted Villegas for “being
an alien illegally and unlawfully in the United States, know ngly
and unlawful Iy possess[ing] in and affecting interstate or
foreign commerce, one or nore firearns . . . [i]n violation of
Title 18, United States Code, Sections 922(g)(5) and 924(a)(2).”
On Septenber 8, 2003, Villegas pled guilty to this charge. In
the pre-sentence investigation report (“PSR’), the probation
of ficer recormended that Villegas receive a four-|evel sentence
enhancenent pursuant to UN TED STATES SENTENCING GUIDELINES (“U. S. S. G ”
or the “CGuidelines”) 8 2K2.1(b)(5) for using or possessing a
firearmin connection with another felony offense. The probation
officer stated that “[t] he defendant falsified an ATF Form 4473
and possessed a counterfeit resident alien card for
identification in order to illegally obtain possession of the
Colt .38 caliber pistol . . . .” The United States Code nakes it

a felony to create or possess fraudulent inmm gration docunents.
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18 U.S.C. 8§ 1546. Thus, the probation officer reasoned, Villegas
used a firearmin connection with another felony.

Prior to sentencing, Villegas filed witten objections to
the PSR, arguing that he did not in fact present Kulish with a
counterfeit resident alien card. Villegas’'s factual assertions
notw t hstandi ng, the district court found that it was nore |likely
than not that Villegas used a counterfeit resident alien card to
obtain the Colt handgun. Thus, the district court accepted the
PSR s recommendati on of the four-I|evel enhancenment. The district
court sentenced Villegas to twenty-one nonths inprisonnent.
Vil l egas now appeals, arguing that: (1) the district court erred
as a matter of law in applying a four-1level enhancenent for his
use of a firearmin connection with a felony; and (2) his Sixth
Amendnent rights were viol ated because the governnent did not
bear the burden of proving beyond a reasonabl e doubt that he used
a counterfeit resident alien card.

. STANDARD OF REVI EW

Villegas did not raise in the district court either his
| egal objection to the inposition of the four-|evel enhancenent
or his Sixth Anmendnent claim Because of the |ack of objections

below, this court’s reviewis for plain error. See, e.q., United

States v. Aderholdt, 87 F.3d 740, 743 (5th Cr. 1996); cf.

Booker, 125 S. C. at 769 (instructing appellate courts to apply
ordi nary prudential doctrines such as plain-error review). This

court finds plain error when: (1) there was an error; (2) the
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error was clear and obvious; and (3) the error affected the

defendant’s substantial rights. United States v. OQ ano, 507 U. S.

725, 732-37 (1993); United States v. Mares, 2005 W 503715, at *8

(5th Gr. Mar. 4, 2005). “If all three conditions are net an
appel l ate court nmay then exercise its discretion to notice a
forfeited error but only if (4) the error seriously affects the
fairness, integrity, or public reputation of judicial

proceedi ngs.” Mares, 2005 W. 503715, at *8 (quoting United

States v. Cotton, 535 U.S. 625, 631 (2002)).

In resolving Villegas’s claimthat the district court
m sapplied 8§ 2K2.1(b)(5) of the Cuidelines to enhance his
sentence, we nust first address the possible effect of Booker on
our standard of review. It is beyond question that before
Booker, this court would have reviewed the district court’s
interpretation and application of the CGuidelines de novo. E.q.,

United States v. Martinez-Mata, 393 F. 3d 625, 627 (5th Gr

2004); United States v. Deavours, 219 F.3d 400, 402 (5th Gr.

2000); United States v. Upton, 91 F.3d 677, 687 (5th Cr. 1996);

United States v. Fitzhugh, 984 F.2d 143, 146 (5th Gr. 1993).

The initial question presented here is whether this standard was
sonehow changed by Booker’'s excision of §8 3742(e), which had
statutorily set forth the standards for review ng sentencing
decisions, and its declaration that the remaining provisions of
the Sentencing Reform Act of 1984, 18 U.S.C. § 3551 et seq.,
inply a standard of unreasonabl eness. W concl ude that when a
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district court has inposed a sentence under the Guidelines, this
court continues after Booker to review the district court’s
interpretation and application of the Cuidelines de novo. W do
not speak in this opinion, however, to the situation in which a
district court elects to exercise its post-Booker discretion to
i npose a non- Cui del i nes sentence.

The Suprenme Court in Booker instructed that although the
Cui del i nes are now advi sory rather than nmandatory, 8§ 3553(a) of
Title 18 still requires the district courts to consider the

Cui del i nes when determ ning a defendant’s sentence. See Booker,

125 S. . at 764-65, 767, Mares, 2005 W. 503715, at *6-7; see

also 18 U . S.C A 8 3553(a)(4) (West Supp. 2004).2 A nunber of

2 Section 3553 provides:

(a) Factors to be considered in inposing a
sentence.--The court shall inpose a sentence
sufficient, but not greater than necessary, to
conply with the purposes set forth in paragraph
(2) of this subsection. The court, in determning
the particular sentence to be inposed, shal
consi der - -

(4) the kinds of sentence and the sentencing
range established for--

(A) the applicable category of offense
commtted by the applicable category of
defendant as set forth in the
gui del i nes- -

(i) issued by the Sentencing Comm ssion
pursuant to section 994(a)(1l) of
title 28, United States Code,
subj ect to any anendnents made to
such gui delines by act of Congress
(regardl ess of whether such
anendnents have yet to be
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other circuits have determned that the requirenent that district
courts still consider the CGuidelines neans that Booker did not
alter the standard for reviewing a district court’s

interpretation and application of the Guidelines. See United

States v. Doe, 2005 W. 428916, at *2 & n.5 (10th Cr. Feb. 24,

2005); United States v. Hazel wod, 2005 W. 415681, at *1, *7 (6th

Cr. Feb. 23, 2005); see also United States v. Hughes, 2005 U. S.

App. LEXI'S 4331, *10-11, 40-42 (4th Cr. Mar. 16, 2005) (on pane
reh’q) (holding that district courts post-Booker nust still
correctly calculate the sentenci ng range under the Cuidelines;
reviewing district court’s application of the QGuidelines de
novo). In Doe, the district court cal cul ated the Cuidelines
range but decided to depart upwardly. The Tenth Crcuit
determned that the district court had erred as a matter of |aw
in upwardly departing because it did not fully take into account
the defendant’s cooperation wth the governnent when naking its
sentenci ng decision. Doe, 2005 W. 428916, at *2. In setting
forth the standard of review, the Tenth Grcuit noted: “Wen
reviewing a district court’s application of the Sentencing

Gui delines, we review | egal questions de novo . . . .” |d.

(enphasis omtted). By way of a footnote, the court then stated:

i ncor porated by the Sentencing
Comm ssion into anmendnents issued
under section 994(p) of title

28) .o

18 U.S.C. A. § 3553 (Supp. 2004).
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During the pendency of this appeal the Suprene Court
decided United States v. Booker which rendered the

Sent enci ng CGui delines advisory only and repl aced the
prior standard of appellate review with review for

unr easonabl eness. Al though the Cuidelines are now

advi sory, district courts nust still “consult the

Gui delines and take theminto account when sentencing.”
Thus, appellate review continues to enconpass review of
the district court’s interpretation and application of
the Cuidelines. Because we conclude that the district
court erred as a matter of |aw under 18 U.S. C

88 3553(a) and 3661, we need not address any further

i npact of Booker on appellate review

Id. at *2 n.5 (internal citations omtted). Simlarly, in
Hazel wood, 2005 W. 415681, at *1, the Sixth Crcuit stated that
“Iw hen review ng sentenci ng decisions, we review the district
court’s . . . conclusions of |aw de novo.” The appellate court
reasoned t hat Booker did not affect its review because it |eft
intact the requirenent that district courts consult the
Quidelines. 1d. at *7. The court then found that the district
court had erred as a matter of |aw by inposing a two-1evel
enhancenent under the Quidelines for threatening death, and it
vacated and renmanded for resentencing.® 1d. at *7-8.

This court recently reached a simlar conclusion regarding
Booker’s effect on the standard of review in an unpublished

opinion, United States v. Davis, 2005 U S. App. LEXIS 3770, *23-

24 & n. 41 (5th Gr. Mar. 7, 2005) (unpublished). In that case,

s It is worth noting that both Doe and Hazel wood i nvol ved
preserved error because the defendant objected bel ow. Although
Doe does not address the issue, Hazel wod reviewed the error for
harm essness as instructed by the Booker Court. Conversely, we
review Villegas’s sentence for plain error because he did not
obj ect bel ow.
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the district court sentenced the defendant as a career crim nal
under 8§ 4B1.1 of the Guidelines, which “classifies a defendant as
a career offender if the offense is a crine of violence or
controll ed substance offense and the defendant has at |east two
previous felony convictions for crinmes of violence or controlled
subst ance offenses.” Davis, 2005 U. S. App. LEXIS 3770, at *23.
The defendant clainmed that the district court erred in applying
the Cuidelines because his two prior felonies were rel ated and

t herefore shoul d have been considered only a single offense under
the Guidelines. This court agreed that the Quidelines “instruct
a sentencing judge to count as a single prior felony conviction
all those that are ‘related’” to one another.” |d. W stated
that the question of rel atedness continues to be reviewed de novo
af ter Booker, noting that although the Suprene Court “determ ned
that the courts of appeals review sentencing decisions for

unr easonabl eness[,] [t]hat determ nati on does not appear to
disturb this circuit’s standard of review for determ ni ng whet her
two prior convictions are related.” 1d. at *24 & n.41 (internal
citations omtted). Reviewing the rel atedness question de novo,
the court found that the defendant’s prior offenses were not
related under 8 4B1.1 of the Guidelines. 1d. at *27. Therefore,
this court found that the district court did not err in applying

the Guidelines, and we affirnmed the sentence inposed by the



district court.* [d.

The renedi al opinion in Booker does not foreclose or
ot herwi se caution against this approach. It is true that the
Court excised 8 3742(e), which statutorily set forth the
standards of review, and stated that the remaining statute
inplied a reasonabl eness standard for review ng sentences.
Booker, 125 S. Ct. at 765-66. It is also true that we nust apply
bot h Booker’s constitutional and renedial holdings to all cases
pending on direct review. 1d. at 769. Even so, nothing suggests
t hat Booker injected a reasonabl eness standard into the question
whet her the district court properly interpreted and applied the
CGui delines or that an appellate court no |longer reviews a
district court’s interpretation and application of the QGuidelines
de novo.

Booker left standing all sections of the Sentencing Reform

Act other than 88 3553(b)(1)° and 3742(e).® Booker, 125 S. C

4 This court took a simlar approach in United States v.
Mont gonery, 2005 W. 469607 (5th GCir. Mar. 1, 2005). 1In
Mont gonery, the court reviewed de novo the district court’s
application of a statutory m nimum provision, 18 U S.C. 8§ 924(e),
as inplenented by US.S.G § 4B1.4. 1d. at *2. The court found
that the district court erred as a matter of law in finding that
a prior conviction qualified as “a crinme of violence.” 1d. at
*2-5. On that ground, the court vacated the defendant’s
sentence, stating that it therefore need not address the inpact
of Booker on the defendant’s alternative argunent that the
sent ence enhancenent violated his Sixth Amendnent rights. 1d. at
*5.

5 Section 3553(b) (1), which made the Cuidelines
mandat ory, provided:

(b) Application of guidelines in inposing a sentence. --
- 11 -



(1) In general.--Except as provided in paragraph
(2), the court shall inpose a sentence of the
kind, and within the range, referred to in
subsection (a)(4) unless the court finds that
there exists an aggravating or mtigating
circunstance of a kind, or to a degree, not
adequately taken into consideration by the
Sentencing Comm ssion in fornulating the

gui delines that should result in a sentence
different fromthat described. In determ ning
whet her a circunstance was adequately taken into
consideration, the court shall consider only the
sentenci ng guidelines, policy statenents, and
official comentary of the Sentenci ng Conm ssi on.
In the absence of an applicable sentencing

gui deline, the court shall inpose an appropriate
sentence, having due regard for the purposes set
forth in subsection (a)(2). |In the absence of an

appl i cabl e sentencing guideline in the case of an
of fense other than a petty offense, the court

shal | al so have due regard for the relationship of
the sentence i nposed to sentences prescribed by
gui delines applicable to simlar offenses and

of fenders, and to the applicable policy statenents
of the Sentencing Conmm ssion.

18 U.S.C. A § 3553(b)(1) (West Supp. 2004).
6 Section 3742(e) provided:

(e) Consideration.--Upon review of the record, the
court of appeals shall determ ne whether the sentence--

(1) was inposed in violation of |aw

(2) was inposed as a result of an incorrect
application of the sentencing guidelines;

(3) is outside the applicable guideline range, and
(A) the district court failed to provide the
witten statenent of reasons required by
section 3553(c);

(B) the sentence departs fromthe applicable
gui del i ne range based on a factor that--

- 12 -



at 764. Thus, 8§ 3742(a) still remains in force, providing that
“[a] defendant may file a notice of appeal in the district court
for review of an otherwi se final sentence if the sentence .
was i nposed as a result of an incorrect application of the
sentencing guidelines.” 18 U S.C. 8§ 3742(a)(2). Moreover,

8§ 3742(f) still provides: “If the court of appeals determ nes

(i) does not advance the objectives set
forth in section 3553(a)(2); or

(ii) is not authorized under section
3553(b); or

(ii1) is not justified by the facts of
the case; or

(C the sentence departs to an unreasonabl e
degree fromthe applicabl e guidelines range,
having regard for the factors to be
considered in inposing a sentence, as set
forth in section 3553(a) of this title and
the reasons for the inposition of the
particul ar sentence, as stated by the
district court pursuant to the provisions of
section 3553(c); or

(4) was inposed for an offense for which there is no
appl i cabl e sentencing guideline and is plainly
unr easonabl e.

The court of appeals shall give due regard to the
opportunity of the district court to judge the
credibility of the witnesses, and shall accept the
findings of fact of the district court unless they are
clearly erroneous and, except wth respect to

determ nati ons under subsection (3)(A) or (3)(B), shal
gi ve due deference to the district court's application
of the guidelines to the facts. Wth respect to
determ nati ons under subsection (3)(A) or (3)(B), the
court of appeals shall review de novo the district
court’s application of the guidelines to the facts.

18 U.S.C. A 8§3742(e) (West Supp. 2004).
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that . . . the sentence was inposed in violation of |aw or
i nposed as a result of an incorrect application of the sentencing
gui delines, the court shall remand the case for further
sentenci ng proceedings with such instructions as the court
considers appropriate.” 18 U S.C. 8§ 3742(f)(1). The survival of
t hese provisions further counsels that we maintain our review of
the district court’s interpretation and application of the
Gui del i nes when it has inposed a sentence under the Quidelines.’
L1, DI SCUSSI ON

Vill egas argues on appeal that the district court erred as a

matter of |aw when it enhanced his sentence under U S. S G

8§ 2K2.1(b)(5) for using or possessing a firearmin connection

! This conclusion is informed in part by this court’s
pre-2003 practice of review ng sentencing departures fromthe
range established by the Guidelines. Before the PROTECT Act of
2003, Pub. L. 108-21, 117 Stat. 650, anended § 3742(e) to provide
for a conplete de novo review of all departures, this court
reviewed departures in two steps: first, we asked whether the
departure was proper under the Quidelines, which was revi ewed de
novo; and second, we asked whether the degree of the departure
was reasonabl e, which was revi ewed under an abuse of discretion
standard. United States v. Fierro, 38 F.3d 761, 775 n.7 (5th
Cir. 1994) (“We review the degree or reasonabl eness of a
departure for abuse of discretion. However, whether the ground
for departure is proper is a question of |aw revi ewabl e de novo
because it involves an interpretation of the Sentencing
Qui delines.” (enphasis omtted)); United States v. Caldwell, 985
F.2d 763, 765 (5th Gr. 1993) (per curiam; see also United
States v. Rybicki, 96 F.3d 754, 757-58 (4th Gr. 1996) (“Because
a court’s classification of potential bases for departure is a
matter of guideline interpretation, we review such rulings de
novo in the context of our ultimate review for abuse of
discretion.”). Anal ogously, post-Booker, as part of its overal
review of the sentence, this court reviews a district court’s
interpretation and application of the Guidelines in the sane
manner as we did pre-Booker.
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with another felony offense. Specifically, Villegas contends
that this enhancenent provision does not apply to him because the
firearnms that he possessed were not used to facilitate the other
felony offense at issue here (his use of a fraudulent immgration
docunent) and because the presence of the firearmdid not nake
the comm ssion of the other felony inherently nore dangerous.
Further, Villegas argues that he did not yet possess the firearm
at the tinme he used the fraudulent inmm gration docunent, so he
could not have used the firearmin connection with his use of
forged docunents.

In reviewing Villegas’s claimfor plain error, our first and
second steps are to determ ne whether the district court
commtted an error and whether that error was plain. See Q ano,
507 U.S. at 732-34; Mares, 2005 W. 503715, at *8. As expl ai ned
above, in making this determ nation, we review the district
court’s interpretation and application of the QGuidelines de novo.
Section 2K2.1(b)(5) provides for a four-|evel sentence
enhancenent “[i]f the defendant used or possessed any firearm or
anmunition in connection with another felony offense . ”
US S G 8§ 2K2.1(b)(5) (2003). For the purposes of
8§ 2K2.1(b)(5), a felony offense “means any offense (federal,
state, or local) punishable by inprisonnment for a term exceedi ng
one year, whether or not a crimnal charge was brought, or
conviction obtained.” 1d. at cnt. n.7. Villegas’s use of
fraudul ent imm gration docunents qualifies as a fel ony of fense
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under this definition because it is punishable by inprisonnent
for a termexceeding one year. See 18 U S. C. § 1546. The
question, however, is whether Villegas possessed the firearm®“in
connection with” his use of the fraudul ent docunents.
Al t hough the Cuidelines do not define the phrase “in
connection wth” as it appears in 8 2K2.1(b)(5), we nust give

this |l anguage its ordinary and natural neaning. See United

States v. Condren, 18 F.3d 1190, 1196 (5th Cr. 1994). This

circuit’'s precedent interpreting 8 2K2.1(b)(5) supports
Villegas’s argunent that 8§ 2K2.1(b)(5) was neant to address
ci rcunst ances where the presence of a firearmfacilitated, and

made i nherently nore dangerous, another crine. 1In United States

v. Arnstead, 114 F.3d 504, 512 (5th Gr. 1997), this court noted

that 8§ 2K2.1(b)(5) was added in 1991 out of concern for crinmes of
vi ol ence and drug offenses and the use of firearnms in connection
wth those offenses. In Arnstead, the defendants pled guilty to
the charge of stealing firearns froma licensed firearns deal er.
114 F.3d at 506. The district court enhanced their sentences for
using the firearns in connection with another felony (the
burglary of the store). [d. at 506-07. W held that the
enhancenment was proper under 8§ 2K2.1(b)(5): once the defendants
acqui red possession of the firearnms during the burglary, they
possessed the weapons in connection with the burglary because
they could have used the guns to facilitate the crinme and they
created an increased concern for public safety. 1d. at 511-12.
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However, in United States v. Fadipe, 43 F.3d 993 (5th Cr

1995), the defendant was convicted of bank fraud and unl awf ul
possession of a firearm The district court levied a four-1|evel
sentence enhancenment pursuant to 8 2K2.1(b)(5) because at the
time he coomtted the fraud, he possessed a firearmin his
autonobile. 1d. at 994. On appeal, we reversed the inposition
of the enhancenent because there was no evidence that the firearm
was used in connection with the bank fraud. 1d. at 995. Even

t hough the defendant had the firearmin his car at the tinme he
was arrested, it was not reasonable to assune that the defendant
possessed the weapon to prevent others fromstealing his
fraudul ent bank checks. 1d. W specifically noted that “[t]he
presence of a gun near instrunents of bank fraud does not create
the same automatic increase in the danger of physical violence

t hat exists when drugs and guns are present together.” [d. at

994-95. Simlarly, in United States v. Houston, 364 F.3d 243

(5th Gr. 2004), the defendant was arrested for unlawf ul
possession of a firearm At the tinme of his arrest, he possessed
counterfeit governnent identification docunents. |1d. at 245. W
nevertheless held that “[t] he possession of a fal se governnent
instrunment, like the bank fraud at issue in Fadipe, is not an
of fense that inherently provokes the type of violent
confrontation conpelling offenders to protect thenselves with a
firearm” |d. at 250.

Thus, our precedent indicates that 8 2K2.1(b)(5) applies
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only when the defendant’s use or possession of a firearm may have
facilitated or made nore dangerous the other felony offense. It
is clear that Villegas's possession of a firearmdid nothing to
facilitate his use of a fraudulent identification card or to nmake
it a nore dangerous crinme. This is particularly so considering
the chronol ogy of events in this case: Villegas' s offense of
using false inmgration docunents occurred the day before he
actual ly acquired possession of the firearm Hence, Villegas’'s
possession of a firearmwas not in connection with his use of a
counterfeit alien registration card for the purposes of

8§ 2K2.1(b)(5), and the district court erred in inposing a
sentence resulting fromits incorrect application of the

Gui delines. Moreover, because Fadi pe and Houston clearly
establish that the sentence enhancenent under § 2K2.1(b)(5) was

i nappropriate in this instance, we also find that the district
court’s error was plain, in the sense that it was clear or
obvious. Thus, Villegas has satisfied the first two prongs of
the plain-error test.

The third step in the plain-error analysis requires us to
consi der whether the district court’s error affected Villegas’s
substantial rights. See dano, 507 U S. at 734-35; Mares, 2005
W, 503715, at *8. At this point, it is inportant to keep in mnd
the relevant error. The error in question here is the district
court’s msinterpretation and m sapplication of the then-
mandat ory Qui delines by finding that an enhancenent was
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appropriate under 8§ 2K2.1(b)(5). Thus, it is different than the
error in Booker (i.e., the Sixth Arendnent error of enhancing a
sentence based on judge-found facts under the mandatory

Gui del i nes) and Fanfan (application of the nmandatory Cuidelines
absent Sixth Anmendnent error).® For that reason, the question in
the third step of the plain-error test is not the sane as it was
in Mares, 2005 WL 503715--i.e., it is not whether the defendant
can show a reasonable probability that the district court would
have i nposed a different sentence had the Qui delines been

advi sory instead of mandatory. |Instead, the proper question here
i s whet her the defendant can show a reasonabl e probability that,
but for the district court’s m sapplication of the CGuidelines, he
woul d have received a | esser sentence. W find that Villegas has
satisfied this burden.

In the absence of the four-level enhancenent, Villegas’'s
sent enci ng range woul d have been reduced from between twenty-one
and twenty-seven nonths to between ten and si xteen nonths.
Because these two sentencing ranges do not overlap, the district

court’s error necessarily increased Villegas' s sentence and thus

affected his substantial rights. See, e.q., Aderholt, 87 F.3d at

744 (hol ding that the defendant’s substantial rights were

af fected by the court’s erroneous application of the Cuidelines

8 It is true that Villegas also alleges a Sixth Anendnent
Booker error on the ground that the district court found facts to
enhance his sentence and i nposed the sentence under the nandatory
Qui del i nes. However, we nust first address the antecedent error
that the district court conmtted by m sapplying the QGuidelines.
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because a correct application of the Quidelines would have
resulted in the defendant receiving a | esser sentence). Villegas
has satisfied his burden under the plain-error test because he
has shown that the district court m sapplied the Guidelines in
cal culating the sentencing range, the court inposed a sentence
under the then-mandatory Cuidelines based on that m scal cul ati on,
and the sentence was higher than the correct range under the

Gui delines.® Under these circunstances, there is at least a
reasonabl e probability that the district court would have i nposed
a lesser sentence if it had properly applied the Guidelines.

Furt hernore, because the district court’s error clearly affected
Villegas’s sentence, we also find that the error seriously
affected the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of

judicial proceedings. See, e.qg., Aderholt, 87 F.3d at 744

(finding that sentencing calculation errors affected “the
fairness and integrity of this judicial proceeding”). Thus, we
conclude that the district court commtted plain error when it

i nposed a four-Ilevel sentence enhancenent pursuant to U S. S G
8§ 2K2.1(b)(5). Accordingly, we nust vacate his sentence and

remand for resentencing. See, e.qg., United States v.

o Moreover, the record contains nothing to suggest that
the district court would have inposed the twenty-one nonth
sentence had it not been required by the Cuidelines, nor does it
i ncl ude any explanation of why the court would have consi dered
such a sentence appropriate even if it were contrary to the
Qui del i nes.
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Ant onakopoul os, 2005 W. 407365, at *9 (1st Cir. Feb. 22, 2005).1°

Al t hough the district court on remand is not bound by the
Guidelines, it nust consider them and in doing so, it ordinarily
is required to calculate the proper QGuidelines range. See, e.q.
Booker, 125 S. C. at 764-65, 767; Mares, 2005 W. 503715, at *7
(“This duty to ‘consider’ the Guidelines will ordinarily require
the sentencing judge to determ ne the applicable Guidelines range
even though the judge is not required to sentence within that

range.”); United States v. Shelton, No. 04-12602, 2005 W. 435120,

at *6 n.9 (11th Cr. 2005).
Because we have determ ned that the district court’s
m sapplication of the Guidelines requires a remand in this case,
we need not consider Villegas’s argunent that his Sixth Anendnment
rights were viol ated.
| V. CONCLUSI ON

For the foregoing reasons we VACATE Vill egas’s sentence and

10 | n Ant onakopoul os, the First Circuit stated:

[Where in a pre-Booker world we woul d have remanded
for procedural or substantive error in the application
of the Guidelines, that would normally | ead to a Booker
remand. Wiere, as in pre-Booker cases, we engage in
plain-error review and find it clear that the district
court has nade a sentencing error under the Cuidelines,
the correction of which ordinarily would have led to a
| ower sentence in the pre-Booker era, there is a strong
argunent for remand. This neans that in sone cases we
W Il continue to review pre-Booker type clains of
GQuideline error where it is plausible that the error
commtted affected the sentence.

2005 W. 407365, at *9 (internal citation and footnote omtted).
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REMAND for resentencing consistent wth this opinion.



